

## **Durham Tees Valley Probation Trust**

Report and Accounts
For the period 1 April to 31 October 2014



# **Durham Tees Valley Probation Trust**

### **Report and Accounts**

For the period 1 April to 31 October 2014

Presented to Parliament pursuant to The Government Resources and Accounts Act 2000 (Audit of Public Bodies) Order 2012 (S.I. 2012, No. 854).

Ordered by the House of Commons to be printed 24 February 2015

#### © Durham Tees Valley Probation Trust 2015

The text of this document (this excludes, where present, the Royal Arms and all departmental and agency logos) may be reproduced free of charge in any format or medium provided that it is reproduced accurately and not in a misleading context.

The material must be acknowledged as Durham Tees Valley Probation Trust copyright and the document title specified. Where third party material has been identified, permission from the respective copyright holder must be sought.

Any enquiries regarding this publication should be sent to us at communications@noms.gsi.gov.uk

This publication is available at https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/national-probation-service

Print ISBN 9781474113953 Web ISBN 9781474113960

ID 19011504 02/15

Printed on paper containing 75% recycled fibre content minimum.

Printed in the UK by the Williams Lea Group on behalf of the Controller of Her Majesty's Stationery Office

## **Contents**

Introduction by Accountable Officer	2
1. Strategic Report	4
2. Management Commentary	6
3. Remuneration Report	11
4. Statement of Accountable Officer's Responsibilities	14
5. Governance Statement	15
6. The Certificate and Report of the Comptroller and Auditor General to the Houses of Parliament	19
7. Accounts	21
Accounts Direction	47
Appendix 1	48
Glossary	49

## Introduction by Accountable Officer

These accounts cover the final seven month period leading up to the dissolution of Durham Tees Valley Probation Trust ("the Trust") on 31 October 2014. The Trust was responsible for delivering Probation services in Durham Tees Valley in accordance with its contract with the Secretary of State. It ceased operations at the end of 31 May 2014 on the expiry of the contract.

On 1 June, the National Probation Service (NPS), which is a directorate within the National Offender Management Service (NOMS), began delivering probation services in relation to advising courts on sentencing and managing high risk offenders in the community, taking on certain of the staff, operational activities and certain rights and obligations transferred from the Trust to the Secretary of State for Justice.

The Durham Tees Valley Community Rehabilitation Company ("the CRC") is one of 21 new companies set up to deliver rehabilitation services to lower risk offenders in the community in England and Wales. The CRC also commenced operations on 1 June, assuming responsibility for the relevant staff and activities transferred from the trust. Immediately following the transfer from the Trust, the Secretary of State transferred certain of the Trust's former rights and obligations to the CRC.

In the rest of this document, transfers of staff, operational activities, rights and obligations from the Trust are referred to as being either to NOMS or to the CRC, to distinguish between those remaining with the Secretary of State and those transferred to the CRC.

From 1 June, support was provided by staff who had transferred to the CRC to finalise the Trust's Report and Accounts for 2013–14, maintain financial records and prepare a Trust Report and Accounts for the period 1 April to 31 October 2014, and to transfer to NOMS and the CRC all remaining records and residual rights and obligations from the Trust. The Trust's Chief Executive and Accountable Officer, Russell Bruce, continued in post until 31 July 2014. The appointments of the Trust's Chair and the other Board members expired on 30 June 2014. A new Board, comprising senior NOMS and MoJ staff, was appointed with effect from 1 August 2014. I became Acting Chief Executive and responsible Accountable Officer for the Trust following the departure of the Trust's Chief Executive and Accountable Officer, and I take full responsibility for the Report and Accounts for the period to 31 October 2014.

Between 1 June and 31 October, the Trust's residual unsettled rights and obligations were transferred to the Secretary of State. On 31 October, the 35 Probation Trusts, including the Trust, were dissolved by an Order under section 5(1)(c) of the Offender Management Act 2007. This Order also gave the Secretary of State the responsibility for completing the Trust's final Report and Accounts. The Report and Accounts were reviewed and approved by the Probation Trusts' Legacy Governance Group (a sub-Committee of the National Offender Management Service Agency Board) on 19 January 2015 and NOMS Audit Committee on 9 February 2015.

I received assurances from the former Accountable Officer about the controls which he, the officers and Board of the Trust had exercised during their tenure, to ensure compliance with the principles of Managing Public Money and in particular in relation to governance, decision-making and financial management. I am content that these assurances were sufficiently accurate and robust to allow me to place reliance on them in discharging my role as Accountable Officer.

I am very grateful to all the former staff and Board Members of the Trust for their continuing hard work and commitment during April and May 2014. This ensured that the Trust continued to deliver high quality probation services throughout this period, while successfully handing over its responsibilities to the two successor organisations with effect from 1 June 2014. I am also grateful to the CRC, NOMS and MoJ staff who have undertaken the subsequent work to close down the Trust, complete the transfer of residual assets and liabilities, and contribute to this final Report and Accounts.

Mark Taylor Accountable Officer 9 February 2015

## 1. Strategic Report

This is the final Durham Tees Valley Probation Trust Report and Accounts prior to the Trust being dissolved on 31 October 2014 under The Offender Management Act 2007 (Dissolution of Probation Trusts) Order 2014.

Durham Tees Valley Probation Trust's performance targets were agreed by the National Offender Management Service (NOMS) Director of Probation and were fully documented in the Trust's Contract.

The Trust was in operation during April and May of 2014. The table below outlines the operational targets that were set at the beginning of the period and shows the Trust's performance against those targets.

Ref	Description of target / measure	Profiled Target	April to May	
	Sickness absence			
IPPF8	Sickness Absence	9.0	11.6	Below
	Pre sentence assessments			
OM40	PSR Timeliness – All	90.0%	96.0%	Above
OM38a	FDR Proportion – Mags only	70.0%	65.7%	Near Miss
	Post sentence assessments			
OM8	OASys Timeliness – Tier 2 & 3	90.0%	94.1%	Above
OM9	OASys Timeliness – Tier 4	90.0%	91.9%	Above
OM10	OASys Timeliness – PPOs	90.0%	88.0%	Near Miss
OM35	OASys Timeliness – Tier 4 & PPOs	90.0%	91.2%	Above
OM14	OASys Timeliness – Phase 2 & 3	90.0%	100.0%	Above
OM11	OASys Termination Timeliness – Tier 2 & 3	90.0%	95.0%	Above
OM12	OASys Termination Timeliness – Tier 4	90.0%	86.4%	<b>Near Miss</b>
OM13	OASys Termination Timeliness – PPOs	90.0%	83.3%	Below
OM39	OASys Termination Timeliness – All	90.0%	93.6%	Above
OM27	IPP/Lifer Parole Report Timeliness	80.0%	54.5%	Below
	Accredited programmes			
INT4	Eligible Programme Starts (OGRS)	85.0%	100.0%	Above
INT1	SOP Completions	56	4	Below
INT13	SOP Completion Rate	80.0%	87.5%	Above
INT2	DVP Completions	9	11	Above
INT14	DVP Completion Rate	68.0%	77.8%	Above
INT3	Accredited OBP Completions	9	18	Above
INT15	Accredited OBP Completion Rate	70.0%	51.4%	Below

Ref	Description of target / measure	Profiled Target	April to May	
	Unpaid work			
INT11	UPW Stand Downs/Send Homes	<1.0%	0.00	Above
INT18	UPW completion rate	80.0%	82.7%	Above
INT24	UPW hours worked in agency placements	33.0%	34.6%	Above
INT25	Average UPW group size	7.0	8.67	Above
	Substance misuse			
INT17	DRR completion rate	55.0%	61.9%	Above
INT16	ATR completion rate	50.0%	75.0%	Above
	Employment			
	ETE Awards (from referrals)	21.0%	0.0%	Below
INT8	Sustained Employment	250	9	Below
INT9	Employment at Termination	35.0%	43.9%	Above
	Compliance			
OM5	Enforcement Timeliness	90.0%	92.8%	Above
	End to End Enforcement	65.0%	0.0%	Below
OM4	Licence Recall Timeliness	90.0%	100.0%	Above
OM20	Successful Sentence Completions	75.0%	82.0%	Above
	Accommodation			
OM17	Accommodation at Termination	80.0%	88.3%	Above
Hostels	Occupancy Percentage	90.0%	91.4%	Above
BASS	Bass Referrals	7	10	Above

Additional performance data will published by NOMS at the address given in the Management Commentary section of this report.

Mark Taylor Accountable Officer 9 February 2015

## 2. Management Commentary

#### Statutory background

The Probation Trust was established by Order under the Offender Management Act 2007 (OM Act) on 1 April 2010. The Trust was a corporate body under the OM Act and a Non-Departmental Public Body (NDPB) which reported to the National Offender Management Service (NOMS).

The Trust was dissolved on 31 October 2014 by the Offender Management Act 2007 (Dissolution of Probation Trusts) Order 2014.

These accounts have been prepared in accordance with the Government Financial Reporting Manual (FReM) issued by HM Treasury (HMT) and in accordance with the accounts direction, on page 47, issued by the Secretary of State under The Offender Management Act 2007.

#### **Going Concern**

The publication "Transforming Rehabilitation: A strategy for Reform" dated 9 May 2013 included plans to contract out certain probation services more widely and to dissolve Probation Trusts.

On 31 May 2014 the Probation Trusts ceased operating, and their activities were taken over from 1 June 2014 by the National Probation Service (NPS) and 21 new Community Rehabilitation Companies (CRCs).

The NPS was created as a new directorate within NOMS, to advise courts on sentencing and to manage the highest risk offenders in the community in England and Wales.

The CRCs are currently owned by the Secretary of State for Justice on behalf of the Ministry of Justice (MoJ). CRCs provide rehabilitation and offender management services for lower risk offenders in the community in England and Wales.

Following a tender process for the CRCs, sale and purchase agreements were signed with successful bidders in December 2014, to take ownership of the CRCs with effect from 1 February 2015. Probation services will continue to be commissioned by MoJ/NOMS from the CRCs under this arrangement. The contracts will influence the operations of the CRCs.

In May 2014 the Secretary of State made a Staff Transfer Scheme and a Property Transfer Scheme (the Schemes) under the Offender Management Act 2007. The Schemes came into effect on 1 June 2014, transferring staff from the Trust to the Secretary of State and to the CRC, and transferring assets and liabilities to the Secretary of State.

On 1 June, the NPS began delivering probation services in relation to advising courts on sentencing and managing high risk offenders, taking on the staff, operational activity and certain of the rights and obligations transferred from the Trust to the Secretary of State for Justice.

Immediately following the transfer from the Trust on 1 June, the Secretary of State transferred certain of the rights and obligations to the Durham Tees Valley Community Rehabilitation Company, which began delivering rehabilitation services to lower risk offenders in the community in England and Wales from 1 June.

The Schemes contained provisions for their modification and for re-allocation of those assets and liabilities that were allocated to a CRC or the Secretary of State up until 31 December 2014. The physical transfer of residual unsettled assets and liabilities under the Property Transfer Scheme took place between 1 June and the date of dissolution. A final Property Transfer Scheme, made in October

2014, took effect immediately prior to dissolution, transferring any remaining assets and liabilities to the Secretary of State.

In the rest of this document, transfers of staff, operational activities, rights and obligations from the Trust are referred to as being either to NOMS or to the CRC, to distinguish between those remaining with the Secretary of State and those transferred to the CRC.

All 35 Probation Trusts, including Durham Tees Valley Probation Trust were dissolved on 31 October 2014.

As all of the Trust's operations ceased during the period and prior to the dissolution of the Trust, I have concluded that the Trust was no longer a going concern as at 31 October 2014. These accounts have therefore been prepared on a basis other than that of a going concern.

As all of the Trust's operations were transferred out of the Trust during the period and prior to the dissolution of the Trust, I have concluded that the Trust was no longer a going concern as at 31<sup>st</sup> October 2014. These accounts have therefore been prepared on a basis other than that of a going concern

Further information can be found in **Note 1.3** to the Accounts.

#### **Principal Activities**

#### The principal activities of the Trust between 1 April and 31 October 2014 were:

- provide assistance to the courts in determining the appropriate sentences to pass (until 31 May 2014)
- making other decisions in respect of persons charged with or convicted of offences (until 31 May 2014)
- to assist in the supervision and rehabilitation of such persons (until 31 May 2014) and
- to hand over all activities to the successor organisations at the end of 31 May 2014, transferring all staff and most assets, liabilities, rights and obligations on 1 June; and all residual rights, obligations, assets and liabilities, before dissolution

#### **Operational Performance**

An analysis of operational performance is summarised in the Strategic Report on pages 4 and 5. Further operational performance data is published by the National Offender Management Service at: https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/prison-and-probation-trusts-performance-statistics

#### Results for the period

The Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure for the period is shown on page 21. The Statement of Changes in Taxpayers' Equity is shown on page 24.

#### Operating costs

The net operating cost before tax for the period stands at £333K compared to £1,599K for 2013–14, before the gain on transfer of assets and liabilities to NOMS and the CRC. The reason for the significant reduction is that the 2013–14 period covered a full 12 months of operation compared to the current period of only 2 months of operational activity.

#### Statement of Financial Position and Statement of Cash Flows

The Statement of Financial Position and Statement of Cash Flows are on pages 22 and 23.

All assets and liabilities, including cash, were transferred to NOMS and the CRC before the Trust was dissolved.

#### Transfers to the NOMS and Durham Tees Valley CRC

The Probation Trust ceased trading on 31 May 2014. The operations and staff of the Trust were divided between NOMS and a CRC, both public sector bodies.

221.1 FTE employees were transferred to the CRC and 268.7 FTE to NOMS on 1 June 2014.

The assets and liabilities of the Trust have been split between NOMS and the CRC on a practical basis that reflects their future usage, services provided and the allocation of employees. Refer to **Notes 1.3** and **26** to the accounts for further details.

#### **Treatment of Pension Liabilities**

Past employees of the Trust, and employees who transferred from the Trust to NOMS or the CRC, are covered by the provisions of the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS). This is a funded defined benefit scheme meaning that retirement benefits are determined independently of the investments of the scheme, and employers are obliged to make additional contributions where assets are insufficient to meet retirement benefits.

From 1 June 2014 the Trust's existing pension liabilities and corresponding assets transferred to the Greater Manchester Pension Fund (GMPF).

The Secretary of State for Justice has provided a guarantee to the GMPF in respect of the CRCs' participation in the GMPF for pension liabilities in relation to staff that transferred to the CRCs.

The responsibility for funding future contributions associated with those original employees who are active members of the LGPS transferred with the employee to the new employer. NOMS ensures that the past service liabilities are fully funded on an ongoing basis from the date employees transferred to the CRC. Any increases in employer contributions, other than those made on a discretionary basis by the CRC are fully funded by NOMS.

The responsibility for funding the past service liabilities associated with the original employees who are deferred or pensioner members of the LGPS transferred to NOMS.

Further information can be found in **Note 4** to the Accounts.

#### Sickness absence data

The average level of absence due to staff sickness was 1.9 days across the Trust during April and May 2014 so not directly comparable to the prior year figure (2013–14: 9.5 days).

#### **Events after the reporting period**

In accordance with the requirements of IAS 10, events after the reporting period are considered up to the date on which the accounts are authorised for issue. This is interpreted as the date of the Audit Certificate of the Comptroller and Auditor General.

As at the date of the Audit Certificate, no reportable events had occurred.

#### Sustainable development

Under the Government's Greening Commitment, the Trust was exempted from the requirement to produce a sustainability report because it had fallen below the size threshold.

#### **Audit**

The Comptroller and Auditor General is appointed by statute to audit the Trust and reports on the truth and fairness of the financial statements and the regularity of income and expenditure. The Audit Certificate of the Comptroller and Auditor General is attached to the Accounts on page 19.

Total audit fees reported in the Accounts are £35,640 and are made up of:

- £35,640 payable to the Trust's external auditor, the National Audit Office (NAO)
- No fees were payable to the Trust's internal auditor, the Ministry of Justice

As Accountable Officer, I have taken all reasonable steps to ensure that:

- I am aware of any relevant audit information,
- the Auditor is aware of that information, and
- there is no relevant audit information of which the Auditor is unaware.

#### The Trust Board

The governance arrangements within the Trust for the period April 2014 to October 2014 are shown below on pages 15 to 18.

Details of the remuneration of the former Board are set out in the Remuneration Report on pages 11 to 13.

Membership of the Board during the period 1 April to 30 June 2014 is set out in the table below:

Position	Name	Date appointment started
Chief Executive	Russell Bruce	1 <sup>st</sup> April 2010
Chairman	Sebert Cox OBE	1 <sup>st</sup> April 2010
Board Member	Balbir Thethi	1 <sup>st</sup> April 2010
Board Member	Kathryn Larkin-Bramley	1 <sup>st</sup> April 2010
Board Member	Vivienne Trenchard	1 <sup>st</sup> April 2010
Board Member	Judith Mashiter	1 <sup>st</sup> April 2010
Board Member	Norman Vaulks	1 <sup>st</sup> April 2010

My thanks and appreciation is extended to all former members of the Board for their hard work and effort during this final reporting period.

From 1 August, the Board was reconfigured to support the closure of the Trust. From that date and until dissolution on 31 October, a Residuary Board was appointed comprising of staff employed by NOMS and the Mo.I.

Following dissolution of the Trust on 31 October 2014, the Residuary Board was reconstituted as the Probation Trusts' Legacy Governance Group, a sub committee of the national Offender Management Service Agency Board to oversee the discharge of the Secretary of State's duty, while my appointment as Accountable Officer was also extended.

Membership of the Residuary Board and Probation Trusts' Legacy Governance Group is set out in the table below:

Position	Name
Chair	Colin Allars
Acting CEO and Accountable Officer	Mark Taylor
Board member	Sian Hibbs
Board member	Amy Rees
Board member*	Christine Straw
Board member**	Sally Wordsworth
Board member***	lan Baker

- \* Until 3 January 2015
  \*\* Until 9 January 2015
  \*\*\* From 12 January 2015

Mark Taylor Accountable Officer 9 February 2015

## 3. Remuneration Report

#### **Appointments**

The former Chair and other former members of the Trust Board were all appointed by the Secretary of State in accordance with the Commissioner for Public Appointments' "Guidance on Appointments to Public Bodies". The former Chief Executive was appointed by the Board..

From 1 August, the Board was reconfigured to support the closure of the Trust and new members were appointed by the Secretary of State, with the agreement of the Commissioner for Public Appointments. From then and until dissolution on 31 October, the Board comprised staff remunerated by NOMS and MoJ. Their names are given in the Management Commentary. These staff did not receive additional remuneration for work in relation to the Trust, and their remuneration and pensions are included within the staff costs given in the Annual Report and Accounts of NOMS and MoJ. Colin Allars is a member of the NOMS Agency Board, and details of his remuneration and pension are given in the remuneration report within the NOMS Annual Report and Accounts.

#### A) REMUNERATION - AUDITED

The following sections provide details of the remuneration and pension interests of the most senior management (i.e. former board members) of the Trust.

#### Salary

'Salary' includes the gross salary; overtime; and any other payment to the extent that it is subject to UK taxation.

#### **Bonuses**

The Chief Executive Officer received an annual performance related bonus in the range £0–5k (2013–14: £0–5k). Bonuses related to the achievement of 13–14 performance targets. The approval of bonus payments was at the discretion of the Probation Trust Board.

#### **Benefits in kind**

The monetary value of benefits in kind covers any benefits provided by the employer and treated by HM Revenue and Customs as a taxable emolument.

The total value of benefits in kind paid to former directors and former non-executive directors was £3k (2013–14: 7k). The benefits received are in respect of costs for accommodation, travel and pecuniary liability in respect of tax paid under the employer PAYE settlement agreement with HM Revenue and Customs.

#### Single total figure of remuneration

	Salary £000						Total £000			
	Period	Year to		Year to		Year to		Year to	Period	Year to
	to 31	31	to 31	31	to 31	31	to 31	31	to 31	31
	October	March	October	March	October	March	October	March	October	March
Former Officials	2014	2014	2014	2014	2014	2014	2014	2014	2014	2014
Russell Bruce -	30-35	100-	0-5	0–5	200	1,200	10–15	70–75	40-45	175-180
Chief Executive	(Annualised 100–105)	105								
Sebert Cox OBE  - Chairman	5–10 (Annualised 25–30)	20–25	-	-	700	2,000	-	-	5–10	20–25

	Sala £00	•	Bonus pa	•	Benefits (to neare		Pension £0		To:	
	Period	Year to	Period	Year to	Period	Year to	Period	Year to	Period	Year to
	to 31	31	to 31	31	to 31	31	to 31	31	to 31	31
	October		October		October		October		October	March
Former Officials	2014	2014	2014	2014	2014	2014	2014	2014	2014	2014
Balbir Thethi –	0–5	0–5	-	-	400	400	-	-	0–5	0–5
Member	(Annualised 0–5)									
Kathryn Larkin-	0-5	0–5	-	-	300	600	-	-	0–5	0–5
Bramley –	(Annualised									
Member	0–5)									
Vivienne	0–5	0–5	-	-	300	400	-	-	0–5	0–5
Trenchard –	(Annualised 0–5)									
Member										
Judith Mashiter –	0-5	0–5	-	-	800	1,200	-	-	0–5	0–5
Member	(Annualised 0–5)									
Norman Vaulks -	0–5	0–5	-	-	500	1,200	-	-	0-5	0–5
Member	(Annualised 0-5)					·				

Russell Bruce acted as Chief Executive for Cumbria Probation Trust who reimbursed £8,684 of his remuneration costs.

Russell Bruce was reported in the 2013–14 accounts as being due an estimated redundancy package of £230k. The final sum, once final pension costs were determined was £218k. He retired on 31 July 2014.

#### Compensation for loss of office

No compensation for loss of office was given in the period (2013–14: £nil).

#### **Pay Multiples**

Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration of the highest-paid director in their organisation and the median remuneration of the organisation's workforce. Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance-related pay and benefits-in-kind. It does not include severance payments, employer pension contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions.

The banded remuneration of the highest paid former director in the Trust in the reporting period was £100–105k (2013–14: £100–105k). This was 3.8 times the median remuneration of the workforce (2013–14: 3.7), a marginal increase over the previous year arising from an uplift in Chief Executive remuneration. The median remuneration of the workforce, remained as reported in 2013–14, this was £27,373.

In the period to 31 October 2014, no employee received remuneration in excess of the highest paid former director (2013–14: nil). Remuneration ranged from £14.6k to £100–105k (2013–14: £14.6k to £100–105k).

The average number of full time equivalent staff in post during the operational period 1 April to 31 May 2014 was 440 (2013–14: 446). After 1 June, only Board members were in post.

#### B) PENSION BENEFITS – AUDITED

#### Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV)

This is the actuarially assessed capitalised value of the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The benefits valued are the member's accrued benefits and any contingent spouse's pension payable from the scheme. A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member

leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of their total membership of the pension scheme, not just their service in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies. The CETV figures include the value of any pension benefit in another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to the Civil Service Pension arrangements and for which the Civil Service Vote has received a transfer payment commensurate to the additional pension liabilities being assumed. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the member as a result of their purchasing additional years of pension service in the scheme at their own cost. CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries, and do not take account of any actual or potential reduction to benefits resulting from Lifetime Allowance Tax which may be due when pension benefits are drawn.

#### Real increase in CETV

This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded by the employer. It takes account of the increase in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the employee (including the value of any benefits transferred from another pension scheme or arrangement) and uses current market valuation factors for the start and end of the period.

		Real increase/ (decrease) in pension and related lump sum at pension age	CETV at 31 October 2014	CETV at 31 March 2014	Real increase/ (decrease) in CETV
Former Officials	£000	£000	£000	£000	0217
Russell Bruce -	45–50 Pension plus	0–2.5	885	842	26
Chief Executive	100-105 Lump sum	Plus lump sum 0–2.5			

The CETV for the departing Chief Executive has been calculated at the date of their departure from the Trust.

The opening CETV as at 31 March 2014 has not been recalculated due to the short period of account. The closing CETV as at the Chief Executive's departure has been calculated by our actuary. Due to the change in pension accrual rates in the period, the CETV figures are not directly comparable. The real increase in CETV is based on an assumption of 2 per cent overall growth of the fund in the period.

Until the 31 March 2014, the scheme provides benefits on a 'final salary' basis at a normal retirement age of 65. Benefits accrue at the rate of 1/60th of pensionable salary for service from 1 April 2008 with no automatic lump sum. For pensionable service up to 31 March 2008, benefits accrue at the rate of 1/80th of pensionable salary for each year of service. In addition, a lump sum equivalent to 3/80ths of final pay of every year of total membership is payable on retirement. The scheme permits employees to take an increase in their lump sum payment on retirement in exchange for a reduction in their future annual pension.

With effect from 1 April 2014, the scheme provides benefits on a career average revalued earnings (CARE) basis. Benefits accrue at the rate of 1/49th of pensionable salary for each year of service. Members pay contributions of between 5.5–12.5 per cent of pensionable earnings. Employers pay the balance of the cost of providing benefits, after taking into account investment returns

Mark Taylor Accountable Officer 9 February 2015

# 4. Statement of Accountable Officer's Responsibilities

Under the Schedule 1, paragraph 13(1) (b) of the Offender Management Act 2007, the Secretary of State has directed the Durham Tees Valley Probation Trust to prepare for each financial year, a statement of accounts detailing the resources acquired, held or disposed of during the year and the use of resources by the Trust during the year, in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. The Accounts Direction for the final accounting period required the statement of accounts to cover the Trust's final accounting period from 1 April to 31 October 2014, in line with The Offender Management Act 2007 (Dissolution of Probation Trusts) Order 2014. The accounts are prepared on an accrual basis and must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Trust and of its income and expenditure, changes in taxpayers' equity and cash flows for the period.

In preparing the accounts, the Accountable Officer is required to comply with the requirements of the Government Financial Reporting Manual and in particular to:

- Observe the Accounts Direction issued by the Secretary of State, including the relevant accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on a consistent basis;
- Make judgments and estimates on a reasonable basis;
- State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Government Financial Reporting Manual have been followed, and disclose and explain material departures in the financial statements; and
- Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis, unless it is no longer appropriate to do so.

The NOMS Agency Accounting Officer appointed the Chief Executive as the Trust's Accountable Officer until 31 July 2014, and the NOMS' Deputy Director of Probation Governance and Acting Chief Executive as the Accountable Officer of the Trust from 1 August 2014. The responsibilities of the Accountable Officer, including responsibility for the propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable Officer is answerable, for keeping proper records and for safeguarding the Trust's assets, are set out in Managing Public Money, published by HM Treasury.

### 5. Governance Statement

#### Introduction

I was appointed as Accountable Officer by Michael Spurr, the NOMS Agency Accounting Officer, to oversee the residual responsibilities of the Durham Tees Valley Trust for the period leading up to dissolution, and to oversee the completion of this final Report and Accounts. In this regard I was supported by a Residuary Board, the NOMS Audit and Risk committee, and NOMS and CRC staff.

This statement sets out a summary of the Trust's governance framework, its risk management strategy and the arrangements in place which assured me of an effectively designed control environment. This allowed the Trust to deliver probation services efficiently and effectively, and to ensure the successful transition of services to the Durham Tees Valley Community Rehabilitation Company (CRC) and the National Probation Service (NPS), a directorate of the National Offender Management Service (NOMS).

#### **Governance Framework**

The governance framework comprises the behaviours, values, systems and processes, by which the Probation Trust was directed and controlled and through which it accounted to the Secretary of State and engaged with, and discharged its responsibilities to other elements of the criminal justice system, the public, stakeholders and partners.

A framework for the implementation of good governance allowed the Trust to be clear about its approach to discharging its responsibilities and to promote this internally, to officers and members and externally to partners, stakeholders and residents. The governance framework was designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness.

The governance framework was based on an ongoing process designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of the Trust's policies, aims and objectives, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically.

#### From 1 April to 31 July 2014

The governance of the Trust was overseen by the Trust Board throughout the period of operation from 1 April 2014 until 31 May 2014. Following the cessation of the Trust's operations on the expiry of the Trust's contract to deliver probation services at the end of 31 May 2014, this governance structure remained in place until 31 July 2014 in order to ensure a safe and well-managed transfer of the Trust's service delivery and employer responsibilities to NOMS and the CRC.

Throughout this period, the Trust Board had six appointed members, including the Chair, Sebert Cox OBE. My predecessor, Russell Bruce, as Chief Executive was also a member of the Trust Board. The Board met on three occasions during this period to discuss and oversee all matters of strategic and operational significance as well as ensuring that the Trust's plans and objectives were aligned to Ministerial priorities and that the affairs of the Trust were conducted in accordance with the Code of Practice and Conduct for Probation Trust Chairs and Members, the Probation Trust Governance Handbook, and Managing Public Money.

The Board was supported by the Audit Quality Assurance & Risk Committee.

The Trust Board maintained its established processes and approaches to managing risk until 31 July 2014.

#### From 1 August to 31 October 2014

The Secretary of State for Justice appointed a Residuary Board, comprised of senior officials from NOMS and Ministry of Justice, with effect from 1 August 2014. I was appointed as Acting Chief Executive and Accountable Officer. The Residuary Board was charged with overseeing the residual responsibilities of the Trust during the non-operational period from 1 August 2014 until the Trust's dissolution on 31 October 2014. In this task, the Residuary Board and I were supported by the NOMS Audit and Risk Committee.

#### Post-dissolution

The Order dissolving the Trust gave the Secretary of State the duty to ensure completion of this final Report and Accounts in accordance with the requirements of Managing Public Money. Following dissolution of the Trust, the former Residuary Board was reconstituted as the Probation Trusts' Legacy Governance Group, a sub-committee of the National Offender Management Service Agency Board, to oversee the discharge of the Secretary of State's duty. My appointment as Accountable Officer was also extended. As Accountable Officer, I was supported by the NOMS Audit and Risk Committee.

#### **Board Effectiveness**

On the basis of the assurances provided by my predecessor discussed below, I am satisfied that the Trust Board was compliant with the requirements of the Code of Practice and Conduct for Probation Trust Chairs and Members, the Probation Trust Governance Handbook, and Managing Public Money.

At its initial meeting, the Residuary Board agreed rules of procedure which drew on the model standing orders set out in the Probation Trust Governance Handbook and were commensurate with the Board's remit of overseeing the residual responsibilities of the Trust during the non-operational period.

#### **Oversight and Assurance Arrangements**

The Trust Board continued to exercise governance oversight until 31 July 2014. The Board's remit was to give direction to, and ensure achievement of the objectives of the Trust operations and major change programmes; ensuring competent and prudent management, sound planning and proper procedures for the maintenance of adequate accounting and other records and systems of internal control, and compliance with legislative and corporate governance requirements. The Board met on three occasions from 1 April to 31 July 2014.

#### Key areas of focus and highlights from Trust Board meetings

The Trust Board's key areas of focus were:

- To receive updates from the Chief Executive on progress being made towards transition
- To receive and approve the Annual Report & Accounts for the 2013/14 financial year
- To receive and consider updates from the Human Resources Director
- To receive updates from the Audit quality assurance & risk committee.

#### **Accountable Officer Handover**

In preparation for the transition of the governance arrangements to the Residuary Board, Russell Bruce, my predecessor as Accountable Officer wrote to me prior to the end of his term of office to provide assurance over the activities of the Trust in the period until 31 July 2014. He confirmed that the Trust's governance and accountabilities remained in place throughout the period, providing evidence that the Trust's overarching governance, risk management and control arrangements remained adequate during the period. The evidence included an audit by MoJ Internal Audit of the Trust's control framework in April and May 2014, which drew on their assurances from 2013–14 and gave an overall opinion of "Substantial assurance".

There were no significant issues that Russell Bruce wished to draw to my attention.

The Handover letter and supporting documentation referred to the Trust's management of risk during this period including the active monitoring of risks relating to operational performance, the Transforming Rehabilitation reforms and other significant concerns. The risks and concerns included:

- maintenance of appropriate levels of staffing, staff sickness, the loss of senior leadership and the difficulties in recruiting staff;
- ICT plans during the transition to the NPS and CRC; and,
- data availability, requests for data and possible data loss during the transition (although no data losses were identified in the period 1 April to 31 July).

These risks and concerns were addressed through the Trust's Exit Management Planning and milestone reporting to NOMS.

From the 1 August 2014 the Residuary Board continued the governance process through oversight of dissolution of the Trust by:

- Reviewing the 2013–14 Annual Report and Accounts and the handover letter from my predecessor as Accountable Officer;
- Receiving regular financial and other reports on progress of the dissolution of the Trust, reviewing these against progress of the Transforming Rehabilitation Programme and its relevant workstreams; and
- Reviewing the details of key liabilities transferring to NOMS and CRCs to ensure appropriate transfer management.

#### **Risk Management**

The Residuary Board was satisfied that the Trust continued to maintain its pre-existing risk management protocols and procedures, and therefore it had satisfactory processes in place for the management of the operational delivery risk during April and May 2014. The Residuary Board was also satisfied that these risks transferred successfully to the CRC and NPS on 1 June 2014.

The Residuary Board recognised there were some risks associated with the transfer process, particularly concerning continuing operational delivery and ensuring transfer was completed in a controlled way.

NOMS (including NPS) and the TR Programme worked closely with the Trust and then with the CRC to manage the risks to business delivery in relation to probation services. An Implementation and Systems Assurance Board chaired by the NOMS CEO was established as a key component of the TR Programme governance to enable NOMS to oversee and manage the operational and delivery risks, ensuring a smooth transition to the new structure. Some members of the Residuary Board, including the Chair, were also members of the Implementation and Systems Assurance Board.

There was no significant diminution of the Trust's core service provision during the period of operation until 31 May 2014, though my predecessor noted the gaps in performance reporting due to changes to the national IT technology during that month. Performance measures agreed with the National Offender Management Service were continued from the previous year and continued to be monitored, showing acceptable performance broadly consistent with prior levels. An analysis of operational performance is summarised in the Strategic Report.

Non-current assets were transferred from the Trust to NOMS or the CRC at 1 June 2014 in accordance with the Property Transfer Scheme. Assets remained in their pre-existing physical location following transfer.

Cash held at the point of dissolution was returned to NOMS. Cash held at local delivery units and approved premises were retained by them and the balances allocated to NOMS or the CRC as required.

The archiving of the Trust's structured and unstructured data is expected to continue until spring 2015, overseen by the TR Programme's Data Archiving Workstream, with support from NOMS and the CRC.

The Workstream has properly considered data loss issues following the removal and subsequent movement of data.

#### **Board Attendance**

#### In the period 1 April – 31 July 2014

Name	Role	Attendance
Russell Bruce	Chief Executive	3 of 3
Sebert Cox OBE	Chairman	3 of 3
Norman Vaulks	Member	2 of 3
Judith Mashiter	Member	3 of 3
Vivienne Trenchard	Member	3 of 3
Kathryn Larkin-Bramley	Member	2 of 3
Bill Thethi	Member	3 of 3

The Board above resigned their posts on 31 July 2014.

The Durham Tees Valley Probation Trust Board's Governance responsibility transferred to the Probation Trusts' Residuary Board on 31 July 2014.

#### From 1 August 2014

Name	Role	Residuary Board to 31 October 2014	Legacy Governance Group from 1 November 2014
Colin Allars	Director of Probation (Chair)	4 of 4	2 of 3
Mark Taylor	Deputy Director of Probation, Acting CEO and Accountable Officer	4 of 4	3 of 3
Sian Hibbs	Deputy Director NOMS in Wales	1 of 4	3 of 3
Amy Rees	MoJ Deputy Director Delivery and Transforming Rehabilitation	3 of 4	3 of 3
Christine Straw*	Deputy Director NOMS HR	4 of 4	1 of 3
Wordsworth**	Finance Business Partner Probation	4 of 4	2 of 2
	Finance Business Partner Probation	N/A	1 of 1
Fiona Moore	NOMS Head of CRC Governance (Board Secretary)	4 of 4	3 of 3

<sup>\*</sup> Until 3 January 2015\*\* Until 9 January 2015

Mark Taylor Accountable Officer 9 February 2015

<sup>\*\*\*</sup> From 12 January 2015

# 6. The Certificate and Report of the Comptroller and Auditor General to the Houses of Parliament

I certify that I have audited the financial statements of the Durham Tees Valley Probation Trust for the period ended 31 October 2014 under the Offender Management Act 2007. The financial statements comprise: the Statements of Comprehensive Net Expenditure, Financial Position, Cash Flows, Changes in Taxpayers' Equity; and the related notes. These financial statements have been prepared under the accounting policies set out within them. I have also audited the information in the Remuneration Report that is described in that report as having been audited.

#### Respective responsibilities of the Board, Accountable Officer and auditor

As explained more fully in the Statement of Accountable Officer's Responsibilities, the Board and the Accountable Officer are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. My responsibility is to audit, certify and report on the financial statements in accordance with the Offender Management Act 2007. I conducted my audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require me and my staff to comply with the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards for Auditors.

#### Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the Trust's circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the Trust; and the overall presentation of the financial statements. In addition I read all the financial and non-financial information in the Report to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by me in the course of performing the audit. If I become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies I consider the implications for my certificate.

I am required to obtain evidence sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the expenditure and income recorded in the financial statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions recorded in the financial statements conform to the authorities which govern them.

#### **Opinion on regularity**

In my opinion, in all material respects the expenditure and income recorded in the financial statements have been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions recorded in the financial statements conform to the authorities which govern them.

#### **Opinion on financial statements**

In my opinion:

- the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of Durham Tees Valley Probation Trust's affairs as at 31 October 2014 and of the net income for the period then ended; and
- the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Offender Management Act 2007 and Secretary of State directions issued thereunder.

#### Emphasis of matter - going concern

Without qualifying my opinion, I draw attention to the disclosures in **Note 1.3** to the financial statements in respect of going concern. The Trust was dissolved on 31 October 2014 under the Offender Management Act 2007 (Dissolution of Probation Trusts) Order 2014, with all assets, liabilities and functions having transferred to the Secretary of State for Justice on 1 June 2014. In accordance with the

Government Financial Reporting Manual, the financial statements have been prepared on a basis other than that of a going concern.

#### **Opinion on other matters**

In my opinion:

- the part of the Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with Secretary of State directions made under the Offender Management Act 2007; and
- the information given in the Strategic Report and Management Commentary for the period for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.

#### Matters on which I report by exception

I have nothing to report in respect of the following matters which I report to you if, in my opinion:

- adequate accounting records have not been kept or returns adequate for my audit have not been received from branches not visited by my staff; or
- the financial statements and the part of the Remuneration Report to be audited are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
- I have not received all of the information and explanations I require for my audit; or
- the Governance Statement does not reflect compliance with HM Treasury's guidance.

#### Report

I have no observations to make on these financial statements.

Sir Amyas C E Morse Comptroller and Auditor General 23 February 2015

National Audit Office 157–197 Buckingham Palace Road Victoria London SW1W 9SP

## 7. Accounts

## Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure

For the period ending 31 October 2014

		Period to 31 October 2014	Year to 31 March 2014
	Notes	£000	£000
Expenditure			
Staff costs	3(a)	2,993	16,919
Other expenditure	6	360	5,141
Total Expenditure		3,353	22,060
Income	7	(3,175)	(21,629)
Net operating costs		178	431
Net interest cost on pension scheme	4(c)	155	1,168
Net operating costs before taxation		333	1,599
Taxation	5	0	5
Net operating costs after taxation		333	1,604
Non-operating activities			
Net (gain) on absorption*	26	(19,069)	0
Net expenditure / (income)		(18,736)	1,604

#### **Other Comprehensive Expenditure**

	Notes	Period to 31 October 2014 £000	Year to 31 March 2014 £000
Items that will not be reclassified to net operating costs:			
Net (gain)/loss on revaluation of property, plant and equipment	8	0	(3)
Remeasurement of post employment benefits	4(c)	(1,018)	(7,552)
Net comprehensive expenditure / (income)		(19,754)	(5,951)

<sup>\*</sup> The net (gain)/loss on absorption reflects the carrying value of net assets/liabilities transferred from the Trust to NOMS and the CRC. The Trust ceased operations on 31 May 2014, when activities, staff, most assets and liabilities transferred to NOMS and the CRC.

### Statement of Financial Position

As at 31 October 2014

	Notes	As at 31 October 2014 £000	As at 31 March 2014 £000
Non-current assets			
Property, plant and equipment	8	0	165
Total non-current assets		0	165
Current assets			
Trade and other receivables	11(a)	0	3,280
Cash and cash equivalents	12	0	453
Total current assets		0	3,733
Total assets		0	3,898
Current liabilities	40(-)	0	(007)
Trade and other payables Taxation payables	13(a) 13(a)	0	(927) (944)
Total current liabilities	13(a)	0	(1,871)
Total darion nashinos			(1,011)
Non-current assets plus/less net current assets		0	2,027
Non-compact Pat 1965			
Non-current liabilities Pension liability	4(c)	0	(21,781)
Total non-current liabilities	4(0)	0	(21,781)
Total Hori Garroni nasimios			(21,101)
Assets less liabilities		0	(19,754)
Taxpayers' equity	04	0	(40,000)
General fund	21	0	(19,886)
Revaluation reserve – property, plant and equipment	22(a)	<u>0</u>	132 (19,754)
		U	(13,134)

The Trust ceased operations on 31 May 2014, when most assets and liabilities transferred to NOMS and the CRC. Residual balances transferred to NOMS prior to dissolution of the Trust. See **Note 26**.

The financial statements on pages 21 to 24 were approved and signed by

Mark Taylor Accountable Officer 9 February 2015

## Statement of Cash Flows

For the period ending 31 October 2014

		Period to 31	Year to
		October 2014	31 March 2014
	Notes	£000	£000
Cash flows from operating activities			
Net operating costs	SoCNE	(333)	(1,604)
Adjustments for non-cash transactions	6	7	44
Adjustment for pension cost		180	1,513
(Increase)/decrease in receivables	11(a)	3,280	(823)
Adjustment for receivables transferred to NOMS and CRC	26	(1,656)	0
Increase/(decrease) in payables	13(a)	(1,871)	(315)
Adjustment for payables transferred to NOMS and CRC	26	304	0
Net cash outflow from operating activities		(89)	(1,185)
Cash flows from investing activities			
Purchase of property, plant and equipment	8	0	(8)
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment	8	0	(1)
Net cash outflow from investing activities		0	(9)
Transfer of cash to NOMS and CRC	26	(364)	0
Net (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents in the period		(453)	(1,194)
		4=0	
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period	12	453	1,647
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period	12	0	453
(Decrease) in cash		(453)	(1,194)

## Statement of Changes in Taxpayers' Equity

For the period ending 31 October 2014

	Notes	General Fund £000	Revaluation Reserve £000	Total £000	
Balance as at 1 April 2013		(25,834)	129	(25,705)	
Changes in taxpayers' equity for 2013–14					
Net expenditure	SoCNE	(1,604)	0	(1,604)	
Net gain/(loss) on revaluation of property, plant and	22(a)	0	3	3	
equipment Remeasurement of post employment benefits	4(c)	7,552	0	7,552	
Balance as at 31 March 2014		(19,886)	132	(19,754)	
Changes in taxpayers' equity for the period to 31 October 2014					
Net expenditure	SoCNE	18,736	0	18,736	
Transferred to General Fund from property, plant and equipment revaluation reserve	22(a)	0	(132)	(132)	
Remeasurement of post employment benefits Transferred from revaluation reserve	4(c) 21	1,018 132	0 0	1,018 132	
Balance as at 31 October 2014		0	0	0	

#### Notes to the accounts

# 1. Statement of accounting policies

#### 1.1 Basis of preparation

These financial statements are for the period from 1 April 2014 to 31 October 2014. The comparative figures are for the year from 1 April 2013 to 31 March 2014.

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 2014–15 Government Financial Reporting Manual (FReM) issued by HM Treasury. The accounting policies contained in the FReM follow International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as at the reporting date to the extent that it is meaningful and appropriate to the public sector.

Where the FReM permits a choice of accounting policy, the policy which has been judged to be the most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the Probation Trust for the purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The Probation Trust's accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the accounts.

The Trust has not adopted any Standards or Interpretations in advance of the required implementation dates. It is not expected that adoption of Standards or Interpretations which have been issued by the International Accounting Standards Board but have not been adopted will have a material impact on the financial statements.

The functional and presentation currency of the Trust is the British pound sterling (£).

#### 1.2 Accounting convention

These accounts have been prepared on an accruals basis under the historical cost convention and modified to account for the revaluation of non-current assets.

#### 1.3 Going concern

The publication "Transforming Rehabilitation: A strategy for Reform" dated 9 May 2013 included plans to contract out certain probation services more widely and to dissolve Probation Trusts.

On 31 May 2014 the Probation Trusts ceased operating, and their activities were taken over from 1 June 2014 by the National Probation Service (NPS) and 21 new Community Rehabilitation Companies (CRCs).

The NPS was created as a new directorate within NOMS, to advise courts on sentencing and to manage the highest risk offenders in the community in England and Wales.

The CRCs are currently owned by the Secretary of State for Justice. CRCs provide rehabilitation and offender management services for lower risk offenders in the community in England and Wales.

Following a tender process for the CRCs, sale and purchase agreements were signed with the successful bidders in December 2014, to take ownership of the CRCs from 1 February 2015. Probation services will continue to be commissioned by MoJ/NOMS from the CRCs under this arrangement. The contracts will influence the operations of the CRCs. MoJ/NOMS has committed to fund and ensure all current probation services will continue under the new structure, using the same assets and resources, for the foreseeable future.

In May 2014 the Secretary of State made a Staff Transfer Scheme and a Property Transfer Scheme (the Schemes) under the Offender Management Act 2007. The Schemes came into effect on 1 June 2014, transferring staff from the Trust to the Secretary of State and the CRC, and assets and liabilities to the Secretary of State.

On 1 June, the NPS began delivering probation services in relation to advising courts on sentencing and managing high risk offenders, taking on certain of the staff and rights and obligations transferred from the Trust to the Secretary of State for Justice.

Immediately following the transfer from the Trust on 1 June, the Secretary of State transferred certain of the rights and obligations to the Durham Tees Valley Community Rehabilitation Company, which began delivering rehabilitation services to lower risk offenders in the community from 1 June.

The Schemes contained provisions for their modification and for re-allocation of those assets and liabilities that were allocated to a CRC or the Secretary of State up until 31 December 2014. The physical transfer of residual unsettled assets and liabilities under the Scheme took place between 1 June and the date of dissolution.

In the rest of this document, transfers of staff, operational activities, rights and obligations from the Trust are referred to as being either to NOMS or to the CRC, to distinguish between those remaining with the Secretary of State and those transferred to the CRC.

See Note 26 for details of transferred balances.

All 35 Probation Trusts, including Durham Tees Valley Probation Trust were dissolved on 31 October 2014.

As all of the Trust's operations ceased during the period and prior to the dissolution of the Trust, the Trust was no longer a going concern as at 31 October 2014, and these accounts have therefore been prepared on a basis other than that of a going concern.

Applying a basis other than that of a going concern has no material impact on the Trust's accounts. All assets and liabilities were transferred out of the Trust at carrying value under absorption accounting before the Trust was dissolved.

#### 1.4 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment was transferred as at 1 June 2014 to NOMS or the CRC on the basis of majority use of the asset.

All land and building assets used by the Probation Trust were managed and owned centrally by NOMS. Recharges from NOMS for IT and Estates costs were not made in the period to 31 October 2014.

#### Revaluation

The revaluation reserve reflects the unrealised element of the cumulative balance of revaluation and indexation adjustments in non-current assets.

Revaluation reserves created while the Trust operated have been transferred to the General Fund as at 31 May 2014.

#### 1.5 Depreciation

Non-current assets were depreciated at rates calculated to write them down to estimated residual value on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. Assets in the course of construction were depreciated from the point at which the asset was brought into use.

Asset lives prior to the transfer to NOMS and the CRC were in the quoted ranges:

Information technology	5 years depending on
	individual asset type
Plant & equipment	3 to 15 years depending on
	individual asset type
Vehicles	7 years depending on
	individual asset type
Furniture, fixtures &	5 years depending on
fittings	individual asset type

#### 1.6 Impairment

Owing to the low value of the assets transferred and given the proximity to the 2013–14 year end, an additional impairment review was not considered necessary.

#### 1.7 Operating income

Income is accounted for applying the accruals convention and is recognised in the period in which services are provided.

Operating income is income that relates directly to the operating activities of the Probation Trust. This comprises income under the Trust's contract with NOMS for the provision of Probation Services, rent receivables, income from EU sources, income from other Trusts, from within the MoJ Group, from other Government Departments and miscellaneous income. Fees and charges for services are recovered on a full cost basis in accordance with the Treasury's Fees and Charges guide.

#### 1.8 Other Expenditure

All non-staff expenditure is shown as Other Expenditure.

On consolidation into NOMS Agency Accounts, all expenditure and income is classified as programme, except the audit fee, which is administration expenditure.

#### 1.9 Pensions

Past employees, and employees who transferred from the Trust to NOMS or the CRC, are covered by the provisions of the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS). This is a funded defined benefit scheme. Retirement benefits are determined independently of the investments of the scheme and employers are obliged to make additional contributions where assets are insufficient to meet retirement benefits.

The responsibility for funding the past service liabilities and all future contributions associated with those original employees who are active members of the LGPS transferred with the employee to the new employer. NOMS ensures that the past service liabilities are fully funded on an ongoing basis from the date employees transferred. Any increase to employer contribution levels, other than those caused by the discretionary actions of the CRC will be funded by NOMS.

The pension fund is subject to an independent triennial actuarial valuation to determine each employer's contribution rate (disclosure of Stakeholder Pensions Schemes is not included in these accounts). The last triennial review was conducted 31 March 2013.

The last roll-forward valuation was performed at 31 March 2014 by the Trust's Actuary.

From 1 June 2014 the Trust's existing pension liabilities and corresponding assets transferred to the Greater Manchester Pension Fund (GMPF).

The Secretary of State for Justice has provided a guarantee to the GMPF in respect of the CRCs' participation in the GMPF for pension liabilities in respect of employees that transferred to the CRCs.

The responsibility for funding the past service liabilities associated with the original employees who are deferred or pensioner members of the LGPS transferred to NOMS.

Given the proximity to the most recent roll-forward valuation an assumption has been made that the make up of current and former employees would not have changed significantly enough to result in a material change in demographic assumptions, nor that there has been any significant change in bond prices or interest rates over the period that

would result in a material gain or loss from financial assumptions made.

The liability recognised in the SoFP as at 31 March 2014 in respect of defined benefit pension plans at the reporting date was the present value of the defined benefit obligation less the fair value of plan assets. The present value of the defined benefit obligation was determined by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using discount rates as advised by the scheme actuary.

Remeasurement gains and losses are recognised within Other Comprehensive Expenditure in the period in which they arise.

In the final reporting period, as well as recognising contributions, the Trust recognised estimates of material movements: current service costs, interest costs, benefits paid and the actual return on plan assets from 1 April to 31 May 2014.

Current service costs and interest costs were estimated using forecasts from the actuarial reports as at 31 March 2014.

Benefits paid for the two months to 31 May 2014 were estimated based on benefits paid in 2013–14.

The actual return on plan assets for the two months to 31 May 2014 was estimated based on the percentage actual return on assets in the LGPS, on the assumption that most pension funds will have a materially similar risk profile for their investments. The percentage was applied to the Trust's opening plan assets, and the resulting return was adjusted to deduct the net interest on plan assets.

In preparing the Trust accounts an assumption was made that there would have been no significant change to the financial assumptions made in the 31 March 2014 actuarial report. To support this assumption management undertook a sensitivity analysis using data provided in the 31 March 2014 actuarial valuation. The results of the sensitivity analysis were broadly analogous with market movements over the period and suggest that had an actuarial valuation been performed at 31 May 2014 the likely impact would have been an increase in the liability in the order of 2 per cent. Management assessed that this estimated impact is not significant to the £20.9m

liability, and have therefore not commissioned an actuarial valuation as at 31 May 2014/

Pension assets and liabilities were transferred to NOMS as at 1 June 2014.

Pension contributions continued for Chief Executive who remained in post after 31 May until their appointment expired on 31<sup>st</sup> July 2014.

#### 1.10 Leases

The Trust held no finance leases in either reporting period.

Under operating leases, the lessor effectively retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership. The rentals are charged to the SoCNE on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. All leases which were current at 1 June 2014 were transferred to the NOMS or the CRC on the basis of majority use.

#### 1.11 Value Added Tax

For the Probation Trust most of the activities are within the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax is charged and input tax on purchases is recoverable. Capitalised purchase cost of non-current assets are stated net of recoverable VAT. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.

Prior to the dissolution of the Trust, final outstanding VAT balances were transferred to NOMS for settlement.

#### 1.12 Corporation Tax

The Trust was a "corporate body" in accordance with the Offender Management Act 2007 supplying court work and offender management services to NOMS and the Ministry of Justice, and as a result, HMRC has confirmed that it is subject to corporation tax. The Trust was therefore subject to Corporation Tax (CT) on its profits, and 'profit' for this purpose means income and chargeable gains. These accounts include estimates of corporation tax liabilities.

Prior to the dissolution of the Trust, all known or unknown past, present and future balances in respect of corporation tax liabilities were transferred to NOMS for settlement.

#### 1.13 Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and Cash Equivalents comprise cash in hand, that is readily convertible to a known amount of cash and is subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.

Cash balances were transferred to NOMS or the CRC prior to dissolution of the Trust.

#### 1.14 Financial instruments

As the cash requirements of the Trust are met through the estimates process, financial instruments play a more limited role in creating risk than would apply to a non-public sector body of a similar size. The majority of financial instruments relate to contracts to buy non-financial items in line with the Trust's expected purchase and usage requirements as well as cash, receivables and payables. Therefore it is felt that the Trust was exposed to little credit, liquidity or market risk.

# 1.15 Segmental analysis of spend as reported to the Management Board

The Durham Tees Valley Probation Trust did not report on a segmental basis.

# 1.16 Basis of allocation of balances from 1 June 2014

From 1 June 2014, the assets and liabilities of the Probation Trust were allocated between NOMS and the CRC as follows:

#### **Pensions**

From 1 June 2014 the Trust's existing pension liabilities and corresponding assets were transferred to NOMS.

The responsibility for funding the past service liabilities and all future contributions associated with those original employees who are active members of the LGPS transferred with the employee to the new employer. NOMS ensures that the past service liabilities are fully funded on an ongoing basis from the date the employees transferred to the CRC.

The Secretary of State for Justice has provided a guarantee to the GMPF in respect of the CRCs' participation in the GMPF.

The responsibility for funding the past service liabilities associated with the original employees who are deferred or pensioner members of the LGPS transferred to NOMS.

#### **Leases and service contracts**

Property and IT leases remain within the Ministry of Justice.

All other service contracts were transferred to the relevant entity based on where the services of that contract will be provided. Where the services are shared by both entities, in most cases the contract will have been transferred to the majority user.

#### Staff related balances

All staff related balances, not settled by the Trust shortly after 1 June 2014, were allocated to the relevant entity to which each staff member was transferred.

#### All other balances

Existing debtors and creditors that remained within the Trust were settled from existing funds.

All other balances were allocated on a practical basis taking in to account future use, staff member allocation and services provided by that entity.

Where an asset, liability or service was utilised by both entities it transferred to NOMS.

## 2. Statement of Operating Costs by Operating Segment

Durham Tees Valley Probation Trust does not report on a segmental basis to the Trust's Management Board.

#### 3. Staff numbers and related costs

#### 3a. Staff costs consist of:

Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Other pension costs
Sub-total
Less recoveries in respect of outward secondments
Total staff costs

	Period to 31 October 2014		Year to 31 March 2014
	Permanently-		
Total	employed staff	Others	Total
£000	£000	£000	£000
2,606	2,574	32	14,875
189	189	0	1,137
478	478	0	2,928
3,273	3,241	32	18,940
(280)	(280)	0	(2,021)
2,993	2,961	32	16,919

No staff (2013–14: 0 persons) retired early on ill-health grounds which was not allowed for in the 2013–14 IAS19 assumptions. The total accrued pension liabilities in the period amounted to £0 (2013–2014: £0)

#### 3b. Average number of persons employed

The average number of full time equivalent persons (including senior management) employed during the period was as follows:

	Period to 31 May 2014		Year to 31 March 2014
Total	Permanently- employed staff	Others	Total
440	440	0	446

Average number of full time equivalent persons are shown net of secondments.

The gross number of staff transferred on the 1 June 2014 was as follows: 221.1 FTE employees were transferred to the CRC and 268.7 FTE to NOMS. After 1 June, only Board members were in post.

#### 3c. Reporting of compensation schemes – exit packages

		Period to			Year to	
		31 October 2014			31 March 2014	
		Number of other	Total number of		Number of other	Total number of
Frit washawa and band	compulsory	departures	exit packages	compulsory	departures	exit packages
Exit packages cost band	redundancies	agreed	by cost band	redundancies	agreed	by cost band
<£10,000	0	0	0	0	1	1
£10,000-£25,000	0	0	0	0	0	0
£25,001-£50,000	0	0	0	0	1	1
£50,001-£100,000	0	0	0	0	0	0
£100,001-£150,000	0	0	0	0	0	0
£150,001-£200,000	0	0	0	0	0	0
£200,001-£250,000	0	0	0	0	1	1
Total number of exit packages by type	0	0	0	0	3	3
Total resource cost £000	0	0	0	0	275	275

Redundancy and other departure costs have been paid in accordance with the Trust compensation scheme. Exit costs are accounted for in full in the year in which they are agreed. The additional costs of any early retirements are met from the Trust and not the pension scheme and are included in the above figures. Ill health retirement costs are met from the pension scheme and are excluded from the above table.

#### 4. Pensions costs

Until 31 May 2014 pension benefits were provided through the Teesside Pension Fund. Up to 31 March 2014, the Fund was administered in accordance with the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2007/08. It was intended to be a fully funded scheme which provides benefits on a final salary basis at a normal retirement age of 65. Members are eligible to retire earlier; either they meet the 85 year rule or have employer's consent to leave prior to that age. Pensions are paid in line with the CPI index on benefits that have accrued at a rate of 1/60th of pensionable salary for each year of service.

On 1 April 2014, the pension scheme changed to Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) Regulations 2014, which replaces the 2008 scheme. Under this scheme the pension added for each member, each year, is based on 1/49th of their earnings (1/98th if opted to be a member of the 50/50 section of the scheme). The individual pension accounts will then be increased each year by the Consumer Price Index up to retirement. Repeating this calculation for each year of membership provides what is known the as a Career Average Revalued Earnings (CARE) Pension.

The last full actuarial valuation was carried out at 31 March 2013. An updated desktop valuation was provided by the scheme's actuaries at 31 March 2014 and reflected in the Trust's 2013–14 accounts. For the period to 31 May 2014 these accounts reflect the contributions paid into the scheme and estimates of the benefits paid out of the scheme, the net interest charge, service costs and movements in the present value of pension obligations and the fair value of plan assets.

As at 1 June 2014 the Trust's pension liabilities and corresponding assets transferred to NOMS at their carrying value.

#### 4a. Pension costs

A full actuarial valuation was carried out at 31 March 2013 by Aon Hewitt. This full scheme valuation is undertaken every 3 years in order to review the employer's contributions. The contribution rate reflects benefits as they are accrued, not when the costs are actually incurred and they reflect the past experience of the scheme.

Member contributions changed from 1 April 2014 and any benefits accrued from this date are based on a career average revalued earnings (CARE) basis, with various protections in place for those members in the scheme before the changes took effect. The Probation Trust was not required to pay employer contributions for those employees who transferred to NOMS and CRC after it ceased operations on 31 May 2014. Contributions from 1 June 2014 are referred to in **Note 1.9**.

A sensitivity analysis using data provided in the 31 March 2014 actuarial valuation was performed. The results of the sensitivity analysis were broadly analogous with market movements over the period and suggest that had an actuarial valuation been performed at 31 May 2014 the likely impact would have been an increase in the liability in the order of 2 per cent. Management assessed that this estimated impact is not significant to the £20.9m liability, and have therefore not commissioned an actuarial valuation as at 31 May 2014.

The approximate employer's pension contributions for the period to 31 May 2014 were 19.2% of salaries. For the two months to 31 May 2014 employer contributions were £453k (2013–2014: £2,583k). Contributions continued for the Chief Executive who remained in post after 31 May until their appointment expired as of 31<sup>st</sup> July 2014

Partnership accounts are excluded under IAS19.

#### 4b. The major assumptions used by the actuary at 31 March 2014

	2013–14
	<u></u>
Inflation assumption	2.4
Rate of increase in salaries	3.9
Rate of increase for pensions in payment and deferred pensions	2.4
Discount rate	4.3

#### **Mortality Assumptions:**

Retiring today: Males 22.9, Females 25.4

Retiring in 20 years time: Males 25.1, Females 27.7

Given the close proximity of the 31 May transfer date to the last roll forward valuation prepared by the Trusts' Actuaries, we have judged the 31 March 2014 assumptions used by the actuary to remain relevant.

The assumptions have been used to estimate the movements for 31/05/14 roll-forward and are considered to be reasonable.

The mortality assumptions were based on the recent actual mortality experience of members within this Fund and allow for expected future mortality improvements.

#### 4c. Movements in the defined benefit obligation during the period

	Period to 31 October 2014			
	Present value	Fair value of		
	of obligation	plan assets	Total	
	£000	£000	£000	
Plan assets	0	72,647	72,647	
Funded liabilities	(94,428)	0	(94,428)	
Opening balance at 1 April 2014	(94,428)	72,647	(21,781)	
Current service costs	(478)	0	(478)	
Net interest (cost)/income	(671)	516	(155)	
Remeasurements Returns on plan assets, excluding amounts included in interest expense / (income)	0	1,018	1,018	
Contributions				
Employers	0	453	453	
Plan participants	(152)	152	0	
Payments from plans				
Benefit payments	460	(460)	0	
Balance at 31 May 2014	(95,269)	74,326	(20,943)	
Transfer by absorption on 31 May 2014	95,269	(74,326)	20,943	
		_	_	
Closing balance at 31 October 2014	0	0	0	

## 4c. Movements in the defined benefit obligation during the period (continued)

	Year to 31 March 2014		
	Present value	Fair value of	
	of obligation	plan assets	Total
	£000	£000	£000
Plan assets	0	72,743	72,743
Funded liabilities	(100,563)	0	(100,563)
Unfunded liabilities	0	0	0
Opening balance at 1 April 2013	(100,563)	72,743	(27,820)
Current service costs	(2,902)	0	(2,902)
Past service costs (including curtailments)	(26)	0	(26)
Total Service Costs	(2,928)	0	(2,928)
Net interest (cost)/income	(4,384)	3,216	(1,168)
Remeasurements		(4.005)	(4.005)
Returns on plan assets, excluding amounts included in interest	(4.000)	(4,005)	(4,005)
Gain/(loss) from change in demographic assumptions	(4,236)	0	(4,236)
Gain/(loss) from change in financial assumptions	2,153	0	2,153
Experience gains/(losses)	13,640	(4.005)	13,640
Contributions	11,557	(4,005)	7,552
Employers	0	2 502	2,583
Plan participants	(870)	2,583 870	2,363
Payments from plans	(070)	070	O_
Benefit payments	2,760	(2,760)	0
Closing balance at 31 March 2014	(94,428)	72,647	(21,781)
Oloshing balance at 51 March 2014	(34,420)	12,041	(21,701)
Plan assets	0	72,647	72,647
Funded liabilities	(94,428)	0	(94,428)
Closing balance at 31 March 2014	(94,428)	72,647	(21,781)

#### 4d. Plan assets as at 31 March 2014 were comprised as follows

	As at 31 March 2014			
	Quoted	Unquoted	Total	%
	£000	£000	£000	
Debt instruments	4,722	0	4,722	7%
Property Funds	509	3,269	3,778	5%
Cash and cash equivalents	3,778	0	3,778	5%
Investment funds	57.400	4 200	50.040	040/
Equities	57,463	1,380	58,843	81%
Other	1,308	218	1,526	2%
	58,771	1,598	60,369	83%
Total	67,780	4,867	72,647	100%

All plan assets transferred out of the Trust on 31 May 2014. Actuarial valuations of the pension liabilities for all 35 PTs were undertaken at the last financial year end, being 31 March 2014. The transfer date of 31 May 2014 includes two months of pension movements after the actuarial valuations were completed. The approach taken by NOMS gives an estimate of the transfer value rather than an actual value. Accordingly a breakdown of plan assets at the transfer date cannot be given. Asset values are given as at 31st March 2014.

## 5. Taxation

	renou to si	rear to
	October 2014	31 March 2014
	£000	£000
UK corporation tax	0	5
Total	0	5

Probation Trusts are corporate bodies under the Offender Management Act 2007, supplying court work and offender management services to the Ministry of Justice. The Trust was therefore subject to Corporation Tax on its profits and 'profit' for this purpose means income and chargeable gains.

# 6. Other Expenditure

	£000	£000	£000	£000
Rentals under operating leases	9		53	
Interest Charges	1		2	
Accommodation, maintenance and utilities	7		2,049	
Travel, subsistence and hospitality	96		650	
Professional services	40		114	
IT services	7		732	
Communications, office supplies and services	51		352	
Other staff related	4		501	
Offender costs	90		418	
Other expenditure	12		168	
External Auditors' remuneration – statutory accounts	36		36	
Internal Auditors' remuneration	0		22	
		353		5,097
Non-cash items				
Depreciation of tangible non-cash assets	7		43	
Loss on disposal of tangible non-current assets	0		1_	
		7		44
Total		360		5,141

Period to 31 October 2014

Year to 31 March 2014

The prior period comparatives include recharges from MoJ/NOMS for IT, internal audit and Estates costs; these recharges were not made in the period to 31 October 2014.

# Period ending 31 October 2014 | Durham Tees Valley Probation Trust

## 7. Income

Income receivable from the sponsoring department – NOMS

Other income from NOMS
Other income from rest of MoJ Group
Other income from other government departments
Miscellaneous income

#### **Total income**

Period to 31	Period to 31 October 2014		March 2014
£000	£000	£000	£000
3,093		21,079	
	3,093		21,079
5		64	
0		2	
47		414	
30		70	
	3,175		21,629
	3,175		21,629

# 8. Property, plant and equipment

	Period to 31 October 2014			
			Furniture,	
	Plant and	Transport	fixtures and	
	machinery	equipment	fittings	Total
	£000	£000	£000	£000
Cost or valuation				
As at 1 April 2014	8	430	0	438
Transfers to NOMS	(8)	(11)	0	(19)
Transfers to CRC	0	(419)	0	(419)
As at 31 October 2014	0	0	0	0
Depreciation				
As at 1 April 2014	0	273	0	273
Charge in year	0	7	0	7
Transfers to NOMS	0	(9)	0	(9)
Transfers to CRC	0	(271)	0	(271)
As at 31 October 2014	0	0	0	0
Carrying value as at 31 October 2014	0	0	0	0
Carrying value as at 31 March 2014	8	157	0	165
, ,				
Asset financing				
Owned	0	0	0	0
Carrying value as at 31 October 2014	0	0	0	0

		Period to 31	March 2013	
			Furniture,	
	Plant and	Transport	fixtures and	
	machinery	equipment	fittings	Total
	000£	£000	£000	£000
Cost or valuation				
As at 1 April 2013	36	427	162	625
Additions	8	0	0	8
Disposals	(37)	0	(162)	(199)
Indexation/revaluation	1	3	0	4
As at 31 March 2014	8	430	0	438
Denneciation				
Depreciation	22	224	404	400
As at 1 April 2013	33	<b>234</b> 41	161	428
Charge in year	(27)		(4.00)	43
Disposals Transfers	(37)	0	(162)	(199)
	3	(3)	0	0
Indexation/revaluation	0	070	0	070
As at 31 March 2014	0	273	0	273
Corrying value as at 21 March 2014	8	157	0	165
Carrying value as at 31 March 2014	3		1	197
Carrying value as at 31 March 2013	3	193	<u> </u>	197
Asset financing				
Owned	8	157	0	165
Carrying value as at 31 March 2014	8	157	0	165

# 9. Intangible assets

The Trust does not hold any Intangible Assets at the reporting date (2013–14: £nil).

# 10. Impairments

There were no impairments in the period (2013–14: £nil).

## 11. Trade receivables and other current assets

## 11a. Analysis by type

	31 October	
	2014	31 March 2014
	£000	£000
Amounts falling due within one year		
Trade receivables	0	1
Deposits and advances	0	4
Receivables, Accrued Income and Prepayments due from NOMS Agency	0	3,055
Receivables, Accrued Income and Prepayments due from other government departments	0	133
Other receivables	0	87
	0	3,280
Amounts falling due after more than one year	0	0
Total	0	3,280

#### 11b. Intra-Government receivables

	Amounts falling due within one year		Amounts falling than or	
	31 October		31 October	
	2014	31 March 2014	2014_	31 March 2014
	£000	£000	£000	£000
Balances with other central Government bodies (inc. parent department)	0	3,057	0	0
Balances with local authorities	0	131	0	0
	0	3,188	0	0
Balances with bodies external to Government	0	92	0	0
Total	0	3,280	0	0

# 12. Cash and cash equivalents

Balance at 1 April
Transfers to NOMS
Transfers to CRC
Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Balance at 31 October / 31 March
The following balances at 31 October / 31 March are held at:
Commercial banks and cash in hand
Balance at 31 October / 31 March

Period to 31 October 2014	2013–14
£000	£000
453 (344) (20) (89)	1,647 0 0 (1,194) <b>453</b>
0	453
0	453

# 13. Trade payables and other current liabilities

### 13a. Analysis by type

	31 October	
	2014	31 March 2014
Amounts falling due within one year (excluding taxation)	£000	£000
Trade payables	0	73
Other payables	0	5
Accruals	0	278
Staff payables	0	74
Payables due to Probation Trusts	0	46
Payables, Accruals and Deferred Income due to other Government	0	11
departments	0	440
Unpaid pensions contributions due to the pensions scheme	0	440
	0	927
Tax falling due within one year		
VAT	0	614
Other taxation and social security	0	330
·	0	944
Total amounts falling due within one year	0	1,871
· ·		
Amounts falling due after more than one year	0	0
•	0	0
Total	0	1,871

#### 13b. Intra-Government payables

	Amounts falling due within one year		Amounts falling than or	
	31 October		31 October	
	2014	31 March 2014	2014	31 March 2014
	£000	£000	£000	£000
Balances with other central Government bodies (inc. parent department)	0	992	0	0
Balances with local authorities	0	7	0	0
Balances with NHS bodies	0	2	0	0
	0	1,001	0	0
Balances with bodies external to Government	0	870	0	0
Total	0	1,871	0	0

# 14. Provisions for liabilities and charges

The Trust had no provisions for liabilities and charges within the period (2013–14: £nil).

## 15. Capital commitments

The Trust had no capital commitments at the reporting date (2013–14: £nil).

#### Commitments under leases

#### 16a. Operating leases

Total future minimum lease payments under operating leases are given in the table below for each of the following periods:

Obligations under operating leases for the following periods comprise:

	2014	31 March 2014
Other	£000	£000
Not later than one year	0	53
Later than one year and not later than five years	0	38
Later than five years	0	0
Total	0	91

31 October

All leases which were current at 1 June 2014 were transferred to NOMS or the CRC on the basis of majority use.

#### 16b. Finance leases

The Trust had not entered into any finance leases as at 31 October 2014 (2013–14: £nil).

## 17. Other financial commitments

The Trust had no other financial commitments at 31 October 2014 (2013–14: £nil).

## 18. Financial instruments

As the cash requirements of the Trust were met through the estimates process, financial instruments played a more limited role in creating risk than would apply to a non-public sector body of a similar size. The majority of financial instruments related to contracts to buy non-financial items in line with the Trust's expected purchase and usage requirements as well as cash, receivables and payables. Therefore it is felt that the Trust was exposed to little credit, liquidity or market risk.

# 19. Contingent liabilities

The Trust does not have any contingent liabilities (2013–14: £nil).

# 20. Losses and special payments

There have been no individual losses or special payments in the period (2013–14: Nil).

## 21. General fund

	Period to 31	Year to
	October 2014	31 March 2014
	£000	£000
Balance at 1 April	(19,886)	(25,834)
Prior period adjustment	0	0
Balance restated at 1 April	(19,886)	(25,834)
Net transfers from Operating / Non Operating Activities:		
Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure	18,736	(1,604)
Re-measurement of post employment benefits	1,018	7,552
Transfer from revaluation reserve	132	0
Balance at 31 October / 31 March	0	(19,886)

## 22. Revaluation Reserve

#### 22a. Property, plant and equipment

	Period to 31 October 2014 £000	Year to 31 March 2014 £000
Balance at 1 April Prior period adjustment Balance restated at 1 April	132 0 <b>132</b>	129 0 <b>129</b>
Arising on revaluations of PPE during the year (net) Transfer to General Fund	0 (132)	3 0
Balance at 31 October / 31 March	0	132

The revaluation reserve was transferred to the general fund as part of the absorption accounting transfers to NOMS.

#### 22b. Intangibles

The Trust does not hold any intangible asset reserves (2013–14: £nil).

## 23. Related party transactions

NOMS and the Ministry of Justice and CRC's are regarded as related parties. During the period, the Trust had various material transactions with NOMS, the Ministry of Justice and CRC's. Additionally, the Trust had transactions with other Trusts, other government bodies and third party organisations.

During the period, no former members of the Management Board, former members of key management staff or other related parties, or their related parties undertook material transactions with the Trust.

#### **Mutuals**

During the financial year 2013/14 and continuing into April and May 2014 some of the staff and management team of the Durham Tees Valley Probation Trust established a community interest company known as Changing Lives North East Community Interest Company. This organisation has joined seven others to develop a bid for the Durham Tees Valley contract package area under the consortium known as ARCC, Achieving Real Change in Communities.

ARCC has 8 members which are:

- 1. Changing Lives North East Community Interest Company
- 2. The Wise Group
- 3. The Vardy Foundation
- 4. Safe In Tees Valley
- 5. Darlington Borough Council
- 6. Stockton Borough Council
- 7. Thirteen (formerly Fabrick Housing Group)
- 8. Tees Esk Wear Valley NHS Foundation Trust

During the period of the competition the Durham Tees Valley Probation Trust have ensured that all staff involved in the bid has been separated from those involved in the day to day operation of the Trust.

Those involved in the bid have completed Part B declarations. A Part B declaration is a document acknowledging that the staff involved in the preparation of the bid for ARCC are excluded from any business conducted within the Trust associated with the Transforming Rehabilitation transition.

The Director of Operations that has been involved in the bid has been working separately from her colleagues throughout the bid process. She has only attended open meetings and has been precluded from any operational decision making.

Other staff working on the bid ensured ethical walls were maintained by being physically separated from their colleagues whilst working on the bid itself. No contamination occurred that could impact on the integrity of the competition process.

There have been no transactions between the Trust and the mutual.

## 24. Third-party assets

There were no Third-party assets held by the Trust at the reporting date (2013–14: £0).

## 25. Events occurring after the reporting period

In accordance with the requirements of IAS 10, events after the reporting period are considered up to the date on which the accounts are authorised for issue. This is interpreted as the date of the Audit Certificate of the Comptroller and Auditor General.

As at the date of the Audit Certificate, no reportable events had occurred:

## 26. Transfers under absorption accounting

A disaggregation exercise was carried out on the Trust's SoFP as at 31 May 2014, which assigned the majority of balances to the CRC or NOMS. See **Notes 1.3** and **1.16** for details of the rationale. In accordance with the FReM, such transfers were accounted for using the absorption method.

Certain balances were retained in the Trust to be settled prior to dissolution. Any residual unsettled balances were transferred to NOMS or CRC prior to dissolution under absorption accounting.

Under absorption accounting, balances are transferred at carrying value on the date of transfer. The total gain or loss on absorption, which reflects the net assets or liabilities being transferred, is recognised as a non-operating cost in the SoCNE.

The total assets and liabilities transferred from the Trust to NOMS and the CRC during the period to 31 October 2014 were:

	Note	Transfers to NOMS	Transfers to CRC	Total transfers
Non-current assets Property, plant and equipment	8	(10)	(148)	(158)
Current assets Trade and other receivables Cash and cash equivalents	12	(1,583) (344)	(73) (20)	(1,656) (364)
Current liabilities Trade and other payables		184	120	304
Non-current liabilities Pension liability Total transfers	4	20,943 <b>19,190</b>	0 (121)	20,943 <b>19,069</b>
Net (gain)/loss on absorption	SoCNE			(19,069)

## **Accounts Direction**

ACCOUNTS OF LOCAL PROBATION TRUSTS IN ENGLAND AND WALES ACCOUNTS DIRECTION GIVEN BY THE SECRETARY OF STATE IN ACCORDANCE WITH PARAGRAPHS 3(1)(a) AND 3(4)(a) OF THE OFFENDER MANAGEMENT ACT 2007 (DISSOLUTION OF PROBATION TRUSTS) ORDER 2014

- 1. This direction applies to the Local Probation Trusts (the Trusts) listed in the attached Appendix 1.
- 2. Each Trust shall prepare a statement of accounts for the period from 1 April 2014 to 31 October 2014, in compliance with the accounting principles and disclosure requirements of the 2014–15 Government Financial reporting Manual ("the FReM") issued by HM Treasury.
- 3. The accounts shall be prepared so as to:
  - give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Trust as at the financial year-end and of the comprehensive net expenditure, changes in taxpayers' equity and cash flows for the reporting period and have been properly prepared in accordance with the Offender Management Act 2007;
  - provide disclosure of any material expenditure or income that has not been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament or material transactions that have not conformed to the authorities which govern them;
  - be on a basis other than that of a going concern.
- 4. Compliance with the requirements of the FReM will, in all but exceptional circumstances, be necessary for the accounts to give a true and fair view. If, in these exceptional circumstances, compliance with the requirements of the FReM is inconsistent with the requirement to give a true and fair view, the requirements of the FReM should be departed from only to the extent necessary to give a true and fair view. In such cases, informed and unbiased judgement should be used to devise an appropriate alternative treatment which should be consistent with both the economic characteristics of the circumstances concerned and the spirit of the FReM. Any material departure from the FReM should be discussed in the first instance with NOMS Agency finance team and HM Treasury.
- 5. Additionally the Trusts shall be required to comply with all Probation Communication Notices to the extent that they build on the requirement of the FReM subject to the directions in paragraph 4.
- 6. This direction supersedes that provided by the Secretary of State to Probation Trusts dated 18 February 2014.

Edward Kirby

On behalf of the Secretary of State for the Ministry of Justice 21 October 2014

# Appendix 1

#### 35 Probation Trusts:

**Avon and Somerset** 

Bedfordshire

Cambridgeshire & Peterborough

Cheshire

Cumbria

Derbyshire

**Devon and Cornwall** 

Dorset

**Durham Tees Valley** 

Essex

Gloucestershire

**Greater Manchester** 

Hampshire

Hertfordshire

Humberside

Kent

Lancashire

Leicestershire & Rutland

Lincolnshire

London

Merseyside

Norfolk & Suffolk

Northamptonshire

Northumbria

Nottinghamshire

South Yorkshire

Staffordshire & West Midlands

Surrey & Sussex

Thames Valley

Wales

Warwickshire

West Mercia

West Yorkshire

Wiltshire

York & North Yorkshire

# Glossary

ATR Alcohol Treatment Requirement

Citizenship An offender management system designed and delivered by Durham Tees Valley

Probation Trust to target crime related need identified by OASys.

CJA Criminal Justice Act

CJS Criminal Justice System. A generic term that encapsulates probation, police,

prisons, the Crown Prosecution Service, Youth Justice Boards, Victim and Witness

Support and others.

Community Orders Community Orders are imposed un the Criminal Justice Act 2003. They involve

offenders doing things as a punishment, reparation, to protect the public and to help avoid re-offending. There is tough enforcement of these Orders and those which are breached can receive more punitive measure or custody. The

community Order includes 12 different requirements.

Crime related need The needs and priorities identified using OASys. These are defined as

Accommodation, Education, Training & Employment, Financial Management & Income, Relationships, Lifestyle & Associates, Drug Misuse, Alcohol Misuse,

Emotional Well-being, Thinking & Behaviour and Attitudes.

CRC Community Rehabilitation Company

CSS Community Supervision Service. A transitional phase of supervision and also the

team of staff that manages the GALLANT projects.

DAAT/DAT Drug and Alcohol Action Team/Drug Action Teams work locally to deliver the UK

drug strategy.

DTV Durham Tees Valley. The geographical area covered by the DTV Probation Trust

which includes County Durham, Darlington, Stockton, Middlesbrough, Hartlepool

and Redcar & Cleveland.

DRR Drug Rehabilitation Requirement.

ETE Education, Training & Employment.

GALLANT Gaining Access to Local Opportunities and Learning to Achieve a New Tomorrow.

GALLANT projects are operated by the Trust's CSS Officers as a one-stop-shop

model based in focal community points.

LAA Local Area Agreements.

LCJB Local Criminal Justice Board.

LDU Local Delivery Unit. A term used to describe a geographical area within which

probation services are delivered, designed to align with the areas covered by

partnership agencies.

**LSCB** Local Safeguarding Children Board.

MAPPA Multi-agency Public Protection Arrangements. MAPPA provide the statutory

framework for inter-agency co-operation in assessing and managing violent and sex offenders in England and Wales. Under these arrangements, probation, police and prisons, supported by additional agencies including housing, health and social services, combine forces to assess and manage the risk to the public posed by

dangerous offenders.

MARAC Multi-agency Risk Assessment Conferencing.

NOMS National Offender Management Service

OASys Offender Assessment System. A structured assessment designed to judge the

issues causing offending, the risk of re-offending and the risk of harm posed by an

offender.

PTRS Probation Trust Rating System

For more background information on the work of NOMS and the Probation Service further information can be found at:

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/national-offender-management-service

1SBN 978-1-4741-1395-3